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9,282,386 992,008,592 90.85 9,709
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
2(b) 16,881,341 1,804,108,913 2,709,788 289,595,044
2(c) 2,531 270,488 2,559 273,480
394,061 42,113,299
100 10,687
16,883,872 1,804,379,401 3,106,508 331,992,510
2(c) (283) (30,244) (378) (40,397)
2(b) (394,188) (42,126,872)
(50,773) (5,426,111) (6,645) (710,151)
(51,056) (5.456,355) (401,211) (42,877,420)
16,832,816  1,798,923,046 2,705,297 289,115,090
2020 22
BAS GAIN MBS
2020 22
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2019 2018
253 27,038 24 2,565
223,810 23,918,575 13,204 1,411,111
224,063 23,945,613 13,228 1,413,676

(7,066) (755,143) (890) (95,114)
(27,769) (2,967,673) (6,225) (665,266)

(4,297) (459,220)

(4,569) (488, 289) (46) (4,916)
(46,790) (5,000,447) (832) (88,916)
(90,491) (9,670,773) (7,993) (854,212)
133,572 14,274,840 5,235 559,464

(1,467) (156,778) (124) (13,252)

(1,467) (156,778) (124) (13,252)
132,105 14,118,061 5,111 546,213

2018 12 31
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
2,705,297 289,115,090
14,473,129  1,546,743,296 2,700,186 288,568,878
(477,715) (51,053,402)
132,105 14,118,061 5,111 546,213
14,127,519  1,509,807,956 2,705,297 289,115,090
16,832,816  1,798,923,046 2,705,297 289,115,090
2018 16 2018 12 31
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2019 2018
132,105 14,118,061 5,111 546,213
(14,565,641) (1,556,630,054)  (2,315,700)  (247,478,859)
44,128 4,715,959 6,645 710,151
(14,389,408) (1,537,796,033)  (2,303,944)  (246,222,495)
14,867,190  1,588,856,595 2,306,125 246,455,579

(477,715) (51,053,402)
14,389,475  1,537,803,193 2,306,125 246,455,579
67 7,160 2,181 233,083

2,181 233,083
2,248 240,244 2,181 233,083
2,531 270,488 2,559 273,480
(283) (30, 244) (378) (40,397)
253 27,038 24 2,565
(1,467) (156,778) 124) (13,252)

2018 16 2018 12 31
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IFRIC 23 IFRIC 23 2017
2019 IFRIC 23 IAS 12
IFRIC 23
IFRIC 23
IFRS IFRS
IAS 39

IFRS

23
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2019 12 31 16,881,341 2018 2,709,788
100.29 2018 100.17

IAS 32

IAS 21
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2019 2018
0.8909 0.8748
108.6750 109.7150
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31

2019 12 31 2018 12 31
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2019 28
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2019 2018
35,069 9,300
188,741 3,904
223,810 13,204
0.10 0.05
2018 765
30
0.40
0.70
20
3,749 2018 5,540
0.70
0.05
GAM MBS
10
0.0175
2,025
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10

2019 12 31
844,067 2018 135,489

844,067 2018 135,489

2019 12 31 2018 12 31

283 283
5,570,964 15,482 5,555,482
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5,570,964 15,765 5,555,199

519 519
1,519,628 2,120 1,517,508
1,519,628 2,639 1,516,989
16,881,341 2,531 16,883,872
16,881,341 2,531 16,883,872
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2,709,788 100 2,559 2,712,447

2,709,788 100 2,559 2,712,447

86/219



EDINETOOOO
o o o =720 06
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 2018

100.29 100.17

0.29 0.17

100.00 100.00
2019 2018

100.29 100.17

0.29 0.17

100.00 100.00

2019 12 31 2018 12 31
2019 2019 2019

12 31 12 31
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MBS

MBS

MBS

MBS

10

2019

2019 12 31

2019 12 31

11,750.00

16,756.00

16

2018

99,265.00

47,300.00

11,750.00

16,756.00

2,070.00

2,909.00

100.

29

100

CovID 19
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108,945.00 103.52
61,147.00 9,872.00
2018 2018
12 31 12 31
11,750.00 101.11
16,756.00 9,933.00
GAM
2018 100.17 GAM
2018
COvVID 19
coviD 19
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2020

22
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2019 12 31
938,318 11,310,377 67.19
GAM Star MBS Total Return USD Inst Acc
604,080 GAM Star MBS Total Return Institutional 5,570,964 33.10

Hedged JPY Acc

16,881,341 100.29
48,525 0.29
16,832,816 100.00
2018 12 31
101,991 1,190,160 44.00
GAM Star MBS Total Return USD Inst Acc
166,893 GAM Star MBS Total Return Institutional 1,519,628 56.17
Hedged JPY Acc
2,709,788 100.17
4,491 0.17
2,705,297 100.00
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Balance Sheet G A M

Investments
as at 31 December 2019
2019 2018
Hotes uss uss
Assets
Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Irvestment furds Al 16,481,341 270,758
Cash and cash equivalents e 2,531 2559
Substripton recenable . 94,061
Recervabie for investment sald e 100
Total assets 16,883,872 3,106,508
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Bank owerdraft 2l {283} 378}
Payatie foe invesiment purchased i) - (3504, 188}
(b creclitors (50,773) 16,645}
Lisbifities (excluding net assels attributable to the unihalders of the Fund) _isl.058 (401,211}
Tatal net aecets attributable to the unitholders of the Fund 16,832,816 2,705,297

These Firancial Statements wiere 3pprored by the Trustee on 22 June 2020 and were sigrad on their betalf by

QLo S

Authorised Signatory Authorised Sigratory

Foe and on behalf of Hameys Trusis (Cayman) Limited s Trusbee of MBS Total Return Fund, a series tust of BAS GAIM Trust
22 Junge 2020

The accompanying rotes an integral form pant of thess financial statements

&
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Income Statement

for the year ended 21 December 2019

2019 2018

Naotes uss usg
Inorme:
Bank interest el 53 24
Mek tair value gaing on nanceal assets and Anancal kabiities at tir value through
proft of |ods e 223210 13,204
Tolal et [meone 224,063 13228
Expensas
Marsagir fis Hal (7,066 15500
Imbesrmediary fes Eie] 27, 765) (6,228
Admini sration fes Hr) 14,297) -
Carstady boa &) 14, 5E5) ]
Cther eupensas ] (96,790 {832
Total openting expenses {20,491} (7.993)
Tokal operating profit 133,572 5,235
Finance costs
Irberieest oo pryser L] (1,.4567) {124
Total finance costs {1.487) (124}
Increase in net assels attributable to the unitholders of the Fund 132,105 5111

* Firancials prépened Tor the peiod from 16 May 2008 (date of incorperation] 1o 31 December 20018
All the amounts above aross from continung opsrations. Thare no 2aing of [0s5es o than those shown in the Incoms Statem et above

Thir @coompanying notes form an infegral el of these financial shatemants

4
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to the
Unitholders of the Fund

for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 018"
uss usg

Mot assots attributable to the unitholders of the Fund at start of yoar 2,705,297 -
Privaspds fom unds s 14,473,129 2700186
Corst of units redesmed (477718
Increase in nol assets attd butatie to he unitolders of tha Fund
during e wear 132,108 £.111
Clange in net assels altributabie to untholders of the Fund during
ther year 14,127 519 2,705,297
Mot assots attributable to the unitholders of the Fund at the yoar end 16832816 2. 705287

* Firancials peopodd fof e paddod fiom 16 May 2008 (date of incdrpemation) 19 31 Decembe 2018

Ther @ecormpanying nobes form an integral pan of thase financial statiments

&
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!
Cash Flow Statement G|A M

Investments

for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Uss uss

Cash flows from operating activitios
Imcremse in met assets resulting from operations: 132,108 B111
Movement in financial assets and financial labiites 2t fir alue
throwgh proff or loss (14, 565.641) (2,316 100
Morimant in cbd craditors 44128 CUEdE
Met cash sulflews fram operating aclivities (14,380,408} (2,302,944)
Cash fhows from financing activitios
Cash recalved on units Issusd 14,867 190 2305125
Cash paid for units redesmed (477,715 -
Mik cash infiows feom financ ing activities 14,389,475 2,306,125
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents &7 2.181
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 2,181 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2,248 2,181
Supplementary Information
Cash and cash aquiralnis coRmpriss
Cash and cash equialents 2531 2 559
Bank overdralt {23 1313
Nat cash flows from operating astieliss include
Imbarect received 253 X4
Irkgrerst i {1, 457) {124

* Firancals prepared for the pediod from 16 May 2018 {date of Incorporation) 1031 December 2018

Thir @coompanying notes form an infegral el of these financial shatemants

7
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. General information

BAS GAIN Trust (the “Master Trust®) |52 Cayman |slends master trust established pursient to the Trusd Desd The Master Tnest was estabiished on
22 Soptarnbes 2006 &nd wa s lofrmed uidee s ks of thi Cayman slands

Thee Master Trust s currently made up of the follosing Serles Trust:
- MBS Tokal Return Fund

Therse financial saterments relate bo the MBS Tofal Retun Fund (the "Fund®)

Thee Fund’s objective iz achieved by imesting subdentiolly 2 of i5 333ats in shares in GAM Star MBS Total Rieburn, 8 sub-fund of GAM Ster Furnd plc the
"Undirlying Fund™) specificaily, the JPY Hidge Class invests mainly in the JPY denominsted Instittiorsl Hedged Class Shares of Underlying Fund
("Uinckrlying Shards A7) and the USD Class rvests mainly inthe USD dencrminated Insitutioral Class Shanes of Undedying Fund ("Uinderlying Shanes BT

Units are nonmally kzsued and redeemead dally on each budiness day Both subecription and redempiions are subiect to the notice pariods per the
Prespectus

The francial statements hawe been pregared for the francial year ended 31 December 2019 and the compantive is for the pedod 16 May 2018 [date of
Incorpomtionk to 31 Decembsar 2018

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basiz of preparation of financial statements

The firencial statements have been prapened in acoondancs with Inlematioral Finencal Reporting Standards (NIFRE ") unidée th historical oot cormention
A% mcdifiad by the Rir valation of inancial assets and firancil abdites 24 tair vidue tirough proft of ks The Insncisl Staterndnts Rave boeen progansd
0 8 going concenn bagis of accounts

Accounting estimates and judgements

Thr praparation of firancial daterments In accordanos with IFRS fsquings [ Direchons bo maks judgements, edimatis and assumplions Bat st the
application of policles and the reported amounts of assets and labiitles, incorme and experses. The eslimates and associated assumplions are based on
historical experlenceand various dher Bolors that are belleved to be reasonabie under i crcumsances, the resuls of wiich form the tasis of making
Rl fLactrrignls Ao CA0rying vl of b g and liabilkies that ardnol rikdily appanent om olher sourcds. Al resuits may differ froem Bhase edimates

Thea estimates and underlylng assumptions {themost dgnificant of which are he fair value of financial assatstiabdtles and expanse acoruals) are reviewsd
on an ongoing besis, Redalons o accounting estimates are recognised Inthe period Inwhich e estimate is revised if e revsion affects only that period,
of Ire s period of the revsion and iture periods if the revision affects both curment and fulung paniods

New dandards, amendments and |nberpretations | ssusd and effective for the financil year beginning 1 January 2019

IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments {“IFRIC 23°) was issued n Jurs 201 7and became effective or periods teginning on or ater 1 January
201%. 1 clarifies the accounting B uncentaindies in incomd et which is apploed o the detormination of toaabie pro®s (Lo boss), e bavses unused b
Ioessens, unused o credits and i mtes, when thérals uncetalnty overincome ta treatments In accondancs with 185 12, It clarifies that the Fund shauld
cons der whether ta treatments shoutd be considerad independently or collectively, whether the relevant tc authority will or will not accept each tax
Triatrnant and, Ui requinament Lo nskssess 15 [Udgiements and estinnates ITBCE and droumstances chanss

Thed dppiication of IFREC 23 oid rich hand & Significind affect on B Fund®s Brancil position, pertormancs of disclotures inits francial statemants.

Trare are no ofher standards, amendments or interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effectihie that would be expectsd to have a significant
impgct on the Fund

(b} Financial assets and financial liabilties at fair value though profit and loss

Clamifcation

IFRS 9 - Firancial Instrumerds (CIFRS 97) replaced the provishons of 15 39 that raate to the recognition, ciassifcation and messurament of inanda
Instruments, including derscognition and Impalrment of such francal instruments. Tha Directors have determined that in order for the francial statements

togive a trueand far view It is necessary to Bir value il Arancal instruments through profit or ioss 8 permithad by IFRS 9, since all financial instruments
are maraged on & fair value basis Therefore the Fund has classited its Snancial assels and Enanclal labilities at &k valee through profit or loss

Recognition/Derecognition
Purchasses and sales areiniBially recognized on trads date —the date on which the Trust commitsto purchase or s&ll the asset. Investments are derecognizad
wivan the rights 1o receive the cash Aows from the Investments have expired of the Trust has transfemed substantially all risks and rewards of panership

Measuremant

Francial assets and labiites ans inkially recognissd al f&ir vaiue, and tensaction costs for all Ananclal assstsliabilties carrled at fair value through profit
of lissare expensed a3 incurred. Subsequent to inflial recognition, all inancial assets and nancial Rablities at tair valuethrowgh profit of I0ss are measured
at fair vabion 9 232:00 (UK time) on ach vaiuation day
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Notes to the Financial Statements G A M

Investments

2. Summary of significant accounting policies, continued

(b} Firancial assats and firancial liabilties 2t fair value though profit and loss, continued

Measurement, continusd

T computation of realised gains and kses on s of Arancial assets and francal liabifties at frn el ihrough proft o 1oss B made on the bass of
average cosd andaccouniied for in tha bcome Statement. Gainsand lossesanising from changesinihe tir value of the frandal assets and firancial Babiities
at Fair value Bhrcugh prot o loss” category are included in the Incorne Staternent in the paricd in which they arlss.

Fair Value Egtimation

Th fair vahaw ol finencial ingrumants tradad Iractive rmarkets (such o pubilicly traded dedvatives and trading secuntios) is based o quoted Mkl prices
at the batande sheal date

Iwesbments into coliective irvestment vehicles or 3aparate portfollos are valued on the basis of the most recent price or valuslion providad by therelevant
fund managsr or adminisrator urless, in the Administnatoes regsonable opinion, there are raasons 1o justily departing tem porarily or pamnansntly rom that
peicl Of vilusation, Such reasons may, witholt Timitation, Inciude thode s ssociabed wih th iquidity prolile and of thie picing mafedology Deerg am ployd
by such collective Investment vehicles of separate portfoflos from time to ime

At 31 December 2009, Investments otalkrg USE1E881 341 {2018, USE2. 700, 783} which represented 100.29% (2018: 100 17%) of the net asset value
(*NENT) of this Fund, wire valied In this mannes

Bn aralysis of the portfofio s shown inthe Portfollo Statement.

Ciitgalling financial instnsments

At tha year and the Fund had not enteead into any lagally enforceatle maser natting agresment.
{c) Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdraft

Cashand cash equivalents comprises cash, tank cvindnal and fonsgn cumindy on depost with Be Custodian with original rafurities of s than T
months.

(d) Fees and expenses

Fees and expen ses were accounted for on an aconals bass

(el Bank Interest
Inbirst adnmod on cash at bank 5 recognised Lesing thi effective rate of interest

(f) Units in issue

All wirits issiied by the Fuind ane red eermabls at the Lnitholders opticn and are clagsifed a5 lability under IAS 32 - Financial metruments Liretholders may
request redem plion of thedr units on application bo the Administrator in accordance with the termis of the Prospectus, for anamount equaltoa proportiorate
wnit of thes WAV of the Fund

ig) Foreign Currency Translation

Functional Cumency and Presentation Currency
The Fund has adoplted Bhe US Dalar (*U5%7%) as its unctional currency under 145 21 - The Effects of Changes in Forelgn Bxchange Rates as it most
approprighely redects the economic emironment in which the Trugtes Delleves the Fund operates. The presentation curmency 15 also the USS

Transctions and Batances

Forelgn currency transactions are trandated into the functional cumency using the ewhange mites preailing at the dates of the tramsactions. Forelgn
exchangs geins and loses resuting from the settlermant of such transactions and from the transtation at period end exchangs rates of assets and Rabiities
dariomirated n foregn cumencias aré recagnisad in the Incoma Satemeant

The Balance Sheat and Income Staterment of any entity with a funchional currency other than US% are ransiated at the exchange mbe ruling at the year end
date and at the avempe exchangs rates for the year respectively. Transialon differences ase recognizsd in the Statement of Changes In Net Azsets
altributable ta the Unithalders of the Fund This methed of tran dation Fas no effect on the AV par unil attibitatie 1o the classes of the Fund

Thea foll owinig, s of exchange to USE mave been used al the year/period end:

2013 2018
Eura Lk 0&74a
Japaness yan 108 6750 1097150
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. Summary of significant accounting policies, continued

(h Taxes

The government of the Cayman |dands will not, under exdsting legidation, Imposeany income, corporate o capdal gains tax, edale dufly, inheritance ax,
gt e or withholding tae upon the Fund, Serfes Trust o the Unitholders. The Fund witl not nomally be efigible to bensfit from any treatiss for thereiaf friom
double taation. 1Nary subsequent ta Rabiities are considensd peanabie then adequate provision wil be madein the Srancal salemants. Withh dlding kac
miay beim posed by cerlain jurd sdctionsupon dividends recaheed by the Trustes on sacurities hald bytine Trustes inrelation bo the Fundin such jurisdicions

Liabilifies redating fo uncertain b positions are acoreed orly when such [&bllities are protable and can be estimated with reasonabie accumcy

3. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value though profit and loss

(a) Fair Value Higrarchy

Thee Fund |5 required to discloss francal instruments meazured at Bir alue eed ona thees level hiemrchy that reflacts the signifcance of the Inputs in
such Bl value maasurements. The hierarchy ghees thehighest prionty to unadjusted guoted prices in active merkets for identical assets or llabilities flevei 1
measurements) and lowast prionity to unotssmvabie inputs (level 3 measurements) The three levels of the &ir value hierarchy are as follows:

Leved 1 = Inputs that refacted uradiusted quobted prices in acthee markets for bdontical asats o Eabilfies that the Fund has the atilly o access at the
measurement date. Investment s typlcallly class ed within leved 1 Include active lished equithes, exchange traded dervatives and cartain government bonds

Lewed 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices Fom active markets that ane obsenvable i he asset of liabilty ather direcly of indinecly, Incluging inputs from
rdskats that @nd nol conddenid to be adtive. Investments lyplcaly dassilied within level 2 inchede irvesmisnts in corporate bonds, Cotain govemmant
borids, cofain Bsted equities and over the counter derivalives Investment funds are alse corsidared el 2 investments if thera is svidence that
redernptions occunred during théyear and there wers no restrictions preventing redemn ptions at the year end

Lievel 3 - Inputs hat are unoboenakie thal ane signifcant 1o e valualion. investments bypically clagsiled within level 3 Include cirain Corporate bonds,
priviate oguities and irvestmont Lnds that havi suspendied redemplions, crasted 56 pocket Classes of imposed gates

Tha Fund uses the *market approach® valuation technigue tovalus it sinvestments. inputs are determinad by obsana bledata. A financial instumeant's level
within the fair value hiemrchy |3 tased on the lowest level of any Input that is significant to the Bir value measurement, However, the determination of what
constiutes “obserabie™ may require dgnificant judgment but can generally be considensd as that madeet data which |5 readiy available, regulary
distributed or updated, reliabie and verifia ble, not propretary, and provided by independent sources that are actively Inwdved in the relevant market. The
categorisation of a financial instrument within the hisrardhy is besed U pon the prcing transparency of the instrument and doss not necessarily comespond
Dot risk of that Ingtrument. Within level 3. the e of the marked approach generally Congists of wsing comparakie market transactions

Transfers bebtween levals of the falr value hismrchy are deemed to have occurred at beginning of the reparting pericd
Al fimancial assets at kair value Binough profl o loss held as at 31 December 20019 and 31 December 2018 were classified a3 livel 2
T iz o0 trary st Of S55603 or MBS Dabwin vl during the yeer ended 31 Decomiber 20019 o piriod endid I Decomber 2015

Caher than fnanclal assets at fair value through profit or foss and firencial Babdsties at fair value through profit or loss, afl other Ananclal instruments not
measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term nancial assets and financial llabilities whose carrying amounts approdmate fair value Thess
firancial assets and financhl labiities an classifed as lovel 2 apart fom cash and ash equivalents which is classified as level 1

(b} Cdher net changes in fair value on financial assets and financial liabiities at fair value through profit or loss

2012 2018

Uss uss

- Realzed 36,00 9300
= Change In unrestised 185,741 3,904
Total met gain 223810 13,204

4. Fees and expenses

(a} Manzger fee

The Fund with effect from 1 July 2019 pays a fes to the Manager at the annual rate of 0 05% amended from O 10% of the AV of the Fund. The Manager
fes iz calculated daily and paid monthly inamears. As e year end, other creditors included an amount of US$2 118{2018: USE7E5) dus tothe Manager
Thea Manager is respongble for the feas of the Delagate investment Marager

10
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Notes to the Financial Statements G A M

Investments

4. Fees and expenses, continued

() Intermediary fee

The Fund with effact from 1 July 2019 pays an intermediary fes lo the Marager at tha annual rate of 0.10% of the NAY of éach dlass of the Furd with value
to JFY 3 billon and 0405 when the NAVY eccseds JFY 3 billlon. Up to 30 June 2009 the Fund paid a infermediary fes to the Manager at the annual ate
of 0. 70% of the NAY of each Class of Iha Fund The intermediary fee |5 accrued dally and pald quarberdy normally within 20 days of the quarter end, Asthe
yaar end, other creditors Included an amount of USES 740 (2008: USES 5400 dus to the Manager

(c) Administration fee

Ther Fund perysa Tess tothie Adminissator ot the annual rate of 0053 of the NAY of the each class of the Fund The Adiministration fiss |5 calculated dady
and [ald monthly, A2 the year end, other créditorsincluded an amaunt of LISE2 139 (2018 Nil) dus to the Administrator. The Adminidmator i responsible
fiar thee fees and expensss of the Delegate Adminismator,

(d) Performance fes

Inaddtion to the fees payable ko the Co-lnvestment Manager, the Co-Investment Manager shall be enfitled bo recedie out of the asssts of GAM Star MBS
Total Retum attributabie to each ciass of Undedying Sharesa performance fee equivatent to 10% of the ouf performancs of the Underlying Shares over the
Baonchmark Felurn, subect to tha High Water Mark whilch will aceres on each valuation day of GAM Star MBS Total Relurn and b pay@bie anmslly in
arniars 3 the ond of s chitwelvemonth pariod ending on 30 une in sbch yaar The "Benchmark” is the promted 2 month LIBOR rateof return, Sel quasteny
inagance

(g) Custody fee

The Fund pays a fes tothe Custodian at the annual mte of 0.01 75% ofthe NAV ofthe Fund . The Custody fee |5 calculated dally and peéd monthly inarrears
A3 the year end. other creditors Included an amount of LISE2 025 (2018: USE28). due to the Custodian

if] Cther experses

Cther expenses comprise of legal and accounting fees, slectronic dafa and accounting Systems costs, printing and publication costs and cerain other
adrninideative CoRs and oul of pockel EpeNes

(@) Interest experse
Interest expenss relate to a tank overdralt which is repayatie on demand

5. Financial risk management
Thee Fund's objective is achieved by irvesting substantaly all of its assets in Undetlying Shares

Tha Fundthrowugh itsinvestmant chjsctive may Bo sipassd boavar sty of firan clal risks- rmarket dsk (inciuding currency risk, interest raberisand peice fsk),
credit risk and Bguidity risk, both drecty through (s osn a=sssts and llabilities and indirectly through the assets and liabiities of the Underlying Shares.

Tt Fund i sibjiect bo certain investment restrictions and may &0 use certain deftvathe ingncial Enstrument s o modenbe cenain risk exposunes The
Irvvistrmiert Marsapar_ with raspact 1othe MBS Total Raturn Fursd_ hasihe powr to Dorrowupto 100 of thae NAL Howdvar, 10wl genealy ordy o 5010 m s
e payment of fees and ipenses related to the MBS Tofal Return Fund

The investment management and fnancial sk maragement of the Fund has been delegated by the Manage (o the Delegate Investment Manager The
Trusstis rand fws the parfarrmance of the Fund on 8 periodic bass

fa) Market price risk
Thee Fund's investmeants (refier to the analyds in the Portfolio Staternent) are surscepli ble to market price risk artsing from uncertaintkes albout future prices

Azat 31 Decernber 2019 7 the fair vatue of investrients fad increased by 53 with all offver variables hald constant, this would e incresed the net assets
atiributable b he unitholders by approdmately US$AEL 06T (2018: USE135465) . Gorversaly, if the fir value of imostiments had decreased by 5% with
all cther variables held corstant, this would have decrsased the nit asdds atibotabie to the unithoiders by approsmately US3544.067
{2018 USE136,4859).

(b Currency risk

The Furid may hold a5sets cenamiratied in currencies obher than e LISE, the Tundtional currency. It may therakong Deexposed Lo cumency risk, asthe value
o thd Sacur this denormdraled in oifer cunnniCies mday Buchsale due bo changées n dochangs @bes Th Delegabe Irddnment Margder monitorstha Fund's
currency rlsk expodure and may wlillss hedging technigues in ander bo remove or reduce currenty risk within the Fund
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. Financial risk management, continued
by Currency risk, continued
Ther botal extpesuir to forelgn cumency ek a5 a1 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2015 was a5 fallows:

Men-monetary Monetary Met curmncy

assete/liabilities) assets liabilitics) oEposUne

uss uss uss

Eurg . [253) {283)
JALRr S pan 5,570,964 {15.457) 5 566 482
5.570.964 (15765} 5555199

MNaon-monetary Monotary Mt currency

asseta/(liabilitizs) assete/isblities) EXPOEUPE

uss uss usg

Euro - (519} 1519
L3 panE s yarn 1.519, 628 (2120 1.517 608
1,519,628 {2,639} 1,516,989

T Unicderlying Furd rray anber from ime to me indo currency exchangse ransacdions elher on @ spot (i e cash) Disis o by buying curmency exchangs
derivalive confracts, Mether spof trareactions nor cuntency exchangs defivative conlracts eliminate Nuctuations in the prices of the undedlying Fund's
scuritieg of In forelgn exchangg rakes, of privent 1055 if prices of thise securties should decing

(€] Interest rate risk

The Fund's may hoid inferest-bearing fnanclal assats and labilties which may expose Fund fo risks assodated with the effects of Sucuations in the
prévailing leveds of market interest rates on its Anancial positions and cash ows. However a3 the majorty of the Fund's francial assets and labilitiesare
ol interest bearing, the Fund |s not subyect to dgnificant amounts of sk due to uctuations in the prevaling levels of markat Interesdt @tes

The cash posltions of the Fund are held on depost with the Custodlan sarning com petitive Inferest rates, which are tased on currer? LIBOR rates less
spreads determined by the Custodan

The Lindarlying Fund's investments in bondsand other dett sacurities will chénge In value basad on changes in interes rabes. [Tdes rise, thevafueof hese
imvastimants generally drops. The Und erlying Fund may inves In varableand flcating mte sscurities. Althoughthesainstruments are genedally lass senstive
By irvbobrie it cibeiirg ik U Mioid mant Brostruan dends, R vl Of BoBting e Securities mny declin if thilr inbinest ralis 9o not riseas quickly, o &5 much,
a3 general inferest mles. Given the histoicaly low niered rale arvironmend, fisks associated with rising rates ane haghleead

{d) Credit risk

The Furnd may De enposed o oredit sk, which is thi risk that a counerpany (0 8 Brancial ranm@ction with the Fund will be wable (o pay amounts in il
Wi dud, Irdsmenls undir cursody with e Custodian ard held in g Bankmaptcy rimole v cle aexd Theeaford ne rot sposed bo Sgnillcan crsdt ris
with the Custodian

The following tables disclose the breakdown of iInvestments, pending tredes and cash held with the Custodianat the year end

Financial assots at falr

value Pending trades. Cash Toal

As at 31 December 2018 uss uss uss uss
Custodian 16,881,241 - 2531 16483872
16,861,341 - 2531 16883872

Financial asscets at fair

valua Pending trades Cash Tokal

As ok 31 Docember 2018 uss uss uUss uss
Custodian 2705 T8 100 2,503 Z.712.447
2,709, TER 100 2.559 2,712,447

The Fund, through s invesiment in Linderlying Shares, Is axposad tolhe credi Ak which the Underlying Shares have at any point in e The masdmum
credit risk which the Fund may have is the value of its investments in the Underving Shares and amounts recetvable from the Underying Shares in respect
of cut gtending sales of nvestments
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Notes to the Financial Statements G AM

Investments

5. Financial risk management, continued
() Credit risk, continuead
Irreestinerts ane bicken down into tha SBllowing concentrations:

2019 2018

Analysis, by geographical arca % %
United States 100 X 10017
Mek current I bilities (023} (217
100,00 10000

2019 2018

Analysis, by Investment % =
Irveirstment Fumds 10089 10017
et curmant I bilibes (023) {017}
100,00 100,00

(e} Liquidity risk
Licuichty rish b5 the sk Hal the Fund cannol generate sulficient cash resources bo medt its payment obligations in full as they BE dus, of an do 5o ondy at
materialy disadvantageows terms. Thea Fund mamages || quidity dskarising from unitholder redém ption requests by the use of redem plion notice perdods that

are at least a3 long a3 the redemption nolice padods of the Fund. The Bguidity profile of the portfolo s reviewed regularly by the Delegate Ivedmeant
Menager The Fund and the Uindedying Fund have similar terms and restrictions on redemn plions

The Marager may dafer payment of redempions proceeds, If ageregate redemplion requests recalved by the Fund on ary Redemption Day exceed such
amourt as the Manages, inits absolute discretion, dalermines would matedally prefudice the management o opeation ofthe Fund. Then the Manager shall
rarricd thi Bokal rrambr oF Lt s recaenmd bo sch et a5 shall b datermind by thi Manager and e recemplions regued recahisd in respact of thi
Fumd shall be scaled down pro rata

&l financial lgbilites were due within thres months
(f) Fair valug estimation risk

T shares of the Linderdying Shares are not pubiicly traded and redem ption can only be made by the Fund on the redem ption dates subfect to the required
notice perlod speci fied In the oflering document of each of the Underlying Shares. The rights of the Fund bo request redemption of iEs Investment s in the
Underlying Snares may vary in freguency. A3 resull, the carmng values of the Underlying Shares may not be indicative of the values ultimatsly reallssd
on redem phion. In addition, the Fund may be materblly affected by theadions (such as substantial redempions) of olfver e ors wheo hane Invested in
e Underdying Shares

(g} Offsetting and amounts subject to master nefting arrangaments and similar agreements
A5 of 31 Decomber 2019 and 31 Decomber 2018 the Fund has nd entered into any legally enforceabie master nelling agreements

6. Units in issue

Nusnbor of unils & ‘Humibees of usils Husmber ol units Mumber of units & MA&Y por unit
Ticined ihils eapita 1 Banuary 2019 oed rideimed 31 December 2019 31 December 2019
MBS Tl Reten UGD Class 11,750.00 99, 265.00 (2.070.00 108, 24 500 Us§108 52
W55 Total Reten SPY Hedge (e 1678600 47,200.00 (2.908.000 61,147.00 ¥O.872.00

Nusnber of unils a Numibes of usils Hurmber ol units Mumber of whits & MA&Y por unit
Tscuimnd whits capital 16 WMay 2018 esged redeemid 31 December 2018 31 Decembser 2018
MBS Toka! Reten UED s - 11,780.00 - 11, 75000 Us¥101.11
WES Total Reten Y Hedge Class = 16,786 .00 - 16, 75600 ¥0033 00

Undtheldees: Fave limBed voling rights. The Trust Deed provides thal the wote of Uritholders may be required in certain dircurmstances, (for ecample 1o
appaint and rermave the Trustes or the Marager), bea pprove the remaval of the Fund toanather jurisdiciion of teapprovean amendmant ta the Trust Dead

Tre capital of the Fund I3 representad by the net asssts atributatie to Unithadders. The smount of nel assets attributatie 1o Unithoider s can changs
significanily on a rigular basis a5 the Fund is subject to regular subscr ptionsand ridem plions at the discretion of Unitholders subject tothe notice periods
per e Prospeches.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

7. Related parties

i} The Manager and Delegate Imstment Manager ane conal derad to be related parties of the Fund Dy virtws of the infuencs which They have aver the
Fund's Irviemant aclivilies. The Manager, Doligale Invesimant Manager and the Admirdsradon ane cornsdensd rolated parties Dacairs tdy and
whilly cwriad subsidiaries of GAM Group AG . Fes asrargem ents with these partles is 508 out in Nobe 4 (a) and (b)

(i} Asat3] December 2019 100.29% (2018 100 17% ) of the HAY of the Fund was held in GAM Funds
{iy Asat3] December 2019, one Unitholder { 2018: ona Uniholder) held 1005 of the [iwed units of the Fund

8. Significant events during the year
On 1 July 2019 2 riew Prospectus wars issusd
Thare were no obher significant events during the year

9. Subsequent events

The year bo date has 3een a sharpincreass in the wolatiiity of global Anancial markets dus bo e COVID-19 pandernic. The investment Manager is actively
monitoring the situstion and will continue 1o manags e Fund's 3ssels within he imestment and risk paramebe s that have Deen estatiished. It should De
riled bt COVID-1S has, and may contimue 1o v, nadverse slied on the ghobsl economy and the econamies of cetan rations, which may negatinely
impsct the Fund's performance. COVID-19 in a non-adjusting post Balance shael evert

There have besn no-other significant events aftecting the Furkd sincs the year end

10. Contingent liabilities
Thee Trustes I3 mot avare of any contingent Eakilites

11. Approval of the financial statements

T firancial satemants wene approved by the Trushes on 22 June 2020

14
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GAM

Investments
as at 31 December 2019

Fair value o of
Heldings Description Uss Fund
Investment Funds
3323218 GAM Star MBS Total Rebern USD Inst Acc® 11310377 &7.19
604,080 GAM Star MBS Totad Return instibutional Hedged JFY Acc® 5570064 3310
Financial assets at fair value theowugh profit or loss 16881 341 100 23
Otser mat curment liabilities [45 525) (0295
Total pet assets attributable to the wnithalders of the Fund 16832 816 100,00
as at 31 December 2018

Fair walue % of
Holdings Description Us§ Fund
Investment Funds
101 591 GAM Star MBS Total Return USD Ind Acc® 1,150,160 a4 00
166553 GAM Star MBS Tolad Reburn Insifutioral Hedged JPY Acc® 1,619,628 B5.17
Financial asscts at fair value throwgh poofit or loss 2,709, 788 10017
Other net curment llabdlities {8,491 ) 017
Tokal net assets attributable to the wnithalders of the Fund 2,705,297 100,00

*Marigod by thi Delogiti Irvistm et Marsgi

Thér @ccompanying notes em an inbegral et of thse fingncial shtemants
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GAM GAM MBS
GAM MBS

2019 30 2018 30
31,346,326 3,349,981,860 16,894,515 1,805,516,818
47,890,398 5,118,046,834 80,844,831 8,639,887,089
5,856,395 625,872,934 14,233,194 1,521,101,443
53,040,625 5,668,451,594
4,482,752 479,071,706 5,115,291 546,671,149
74 7,908
1,171,724,714 125,222,220,185 1,583,697,319  169,249,732,482
1,261,300,585 134,795,193,519 1,753,825,849  187,431,368,483
(4,707,378) (503,077,487) (10,355, 759) (1,106,719,964)
(5,048, 665) (539,550,829) (718,694) (76,806,828)
(2.364,184) (252,660, 344) (2.630,196) (281,089,047)
(4,931,067) (526,983,130) (61,829,002) (6,607,665,444)
(3,922) (419,144) (150) (16,031)
(2,195,383) (234,620,581) (2,023,022) (216,200,361)
(19, 250,599) (2,057,311,515) (77,556,823) (8,288,497,674)
1,242,049,986 132,737,882,004 1,676,269,026  179,142,870,809
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2019 30 2018 30
963,247 102,942,207 1,631,304 174,337,458
121,815 13,018,369 29,324 3,133,856

71,058,113 7,593,980,536 59,036,782 6,309, 260,892
(40,007,088) (4,275,557,495) (12,367,224)  (1,321,685,229)
32,136,087 3,434,383,618 48,330,186 5,165,046,978
(14,767,120) (1,578,162,114) (14,117,923)  (1,508,782,431)
17,368,967 1,856,221,503 34,212,263 3,656, 264,547

(95) (10,153) (1,188) (126,962)

(57,386,496) (6,132,894,828) (46,613,299)  (4,981,563,264)

(57,386,591) (6,132,904,980) (46,614,487)  (4,981,690,226)

(40,017,624) (4,276,683,477) (12,402,224)  (1,325,425,679)
(15,975) (1,707,248) (13,440) (1,436,333)

(40,033,599) (4,278,390,725) (12,415,664)  (1,326,862,012)
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GAM MBS
2019 30
2019 30 2018 30
89.38 82.68
3.87 8.24
0.23
0.06
(0.11)
0.57 (0.19)
6.06 9.21
100.00 100.00
2019 30 2018 30
92.40 87.96
1.00
0.08 3.02
(0.11)
0.57 (0.19)
6.06 9.21
100.00 100.00
2019 30 2018 30
MBS 65.75 59.09
ABS 26.54 34.85
1.16 0.18
MBS 0.03 0.03
(0.11)
TBA (3.17)
0.57 (0.19)
6.06 9.21
100.00 100.00
2019 30 2018 30
S&P
ABS MBS AAA D AAA D

MBS
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GAM MBS

2019 12 31
26,996,670 2,885,134,123
21,530,918 2,301,009, 207
5,680,671 607,093,310
5,018,072 536,281,355

1,124,070,510 120,129,415,404

1,183,296,841 126,458,933,398

(7,383,351) (789,058,721)
(1,241,807) (132,711,914)
(1,630,609) (174,263,184)

(1,705) (182,213)

(10,257,472)  (1,096,216,033)

1,173,039,369 125,362,717,365
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GAM MBS
2019 12 31
2019 12 31 2019 30
88.74 89.38
3.42 3.87
3.01 0.23
0.05 (0.11)
0.47 0.57
4.31 6.06
100.00 100.00
2019 12 31 2019 30
94.02 92.40
1.06 1.00
0.09 0.08
0.05 (0.11)
0.47 0.57
4.31 6.06
100.00 100.00
2019 12 31 2019 30
MBS 64.77 65.75
ABS 28.62 26.54
1.75 1.16
MBS 0.03 0.03
0.05 (0.11)
0.47 0.57
4.31 6.06
100.00 100.00
2019 12 31 2019 30
S&P
ABS MBS AMA D AMA D

MBS
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GAM Star MBS Total Return

Fund Manager: Gary Singlaterry/Tom Mansiey

GAM

Investments

0 June 29

Commentary (Unaudited)

Thie Fund (as riwddared by (he USD Ordnary shars o a8 ross 2 0% over 1he
Yo 1o 30 June 2010, underperomning 5 Denchmark, The Bank of America
Mol Lynch US Mor Qage Backed Securiees indmg witdch rose & Tk

Portfolio Analysis

Thethind quarter of 201 Bw i 3 AIMGUE one lo many fnanaal 35ee s espedaly Ak Ao
1 EXTe NG Mareel s ARgerting and TUEKey S INe uren B8 dapeedate by | B
4% and 24.1%, respaciivaty. The ICE BolAML LIS Treasury index had 2

negalive 0.7% patarnanas for Ihe quater Hawever The SAP 500 srpoed G i % S
T.7% closing up 10E% yoor to dabe. High yied Bonds outp-atonmed har high Futures = Interest Rates {a11) -
Grase counlapaty 8 Both B Snd US Righ yisa raskels pedlad podive Cumency Forwands asy (i
perlorrance lor I quater AS apeced e LS Federal Cpen Marke

Comimitles rased 15 fargel rae @ e September meeng, The 10 year

LS Traswsuey ot rose by 20 basis points auing (he quasr, cosng 2 105% ot s e
UE morigage rabes drfted upward with Tressunes, Tnishing &t srcund 4. 7% et 10000

Mational house pross ncreassd 0.5% in July, an increase of 80% from 1he
DFEIOUS Y Ba, 30000ding o Corelogis. Pegional Giferances are [ange, noweyer
willh Sofe SIated posling double gl annul ncreased and oihers Barefy
inraasng On (he nalional ke, house prcss are now sbove (hair pre-ones
ek i 2008

Thetourtn quarter of 2018 was one of e most Afcuf in reeen Risony 1or ris
assds. The reversal of quantifaoee sasng by 1he Faderal Feserva Fad), thar

Inracse in Fad Fund rales, and the pawss by the Europesn Ceniral Bank hawe B geniod Sonclc e e

Eakan 1remr [0l On ik marne s workdwice, Vodabily has risen shaply, The S4F Fufures fid) -

SO0 indax fall 135% In (e quarter, inishing ENe year win a negalve 4.4% Cumany Forwarnds ST i
AL P SqUity Mmanas asdinad, 35 dd most aurparae bond

miakats The “als hawan * maskals (Qoid Treasunss and bunds 3l ralkad

wihisch furiher fatianed the yisld cures. M Cosrerd Assats a0 a:

The frsd quarler of 2010 was 3 wilcomae rversad of the dewastaling provious 100y 10000

quater wilh regards 1o nek aseets The end of March saw a frong rally in
soveragn Sebl alter 1he US Faderal Pegenve (Fad) meating tumead ool i ba
mawd dovish than epected This large drop in rales, couplad wilh the
expadation of no mose Fed @ie iNcreasss, was 4 Doon 10 &l ong aurstion
assds, indudng aredl, The ten yoar US Treasury ralied 28 basis poinis to

Binieh fhe quarier 3 2 41%, Tha SAP 500 Indec retumad 1389 for the quarter. b ottt i i
The agency MBS markel had s besl frsl quarier since 2006, win a postive Assel Backed Seounbes 234 Eat ]
retum of 2% a6 measured by the ICE BalAML Mongags Backea Sacunlies Corporda Bonds (AL 01e
It Tha fonsard LIESOR Manet oMicialy invered, 35 S afions fof [he Fad Mot Fass Thig e e
cnangea Irom Rurfier Fae INEeases 1o fale dedines. i s (@) _
ThEnKS b0 Srong Dol ormanos inJunas, 1he Sa00nd QUarter was Goond Fof rck TEA Salas Cornmitrment - Lm
assas, The panicd was charadensad by a0 ingesss o volabiny &5 well s Cumency Forwands asr e
#hrong performanos in mos assd dasses The 10year US Tressurny milied 40

Dasis poinls 1o fnish the guaner al 20%, while the S8F 500 inde nejumead

4.5% ovar ha panca Most aouty and fead iINComa Markets showad posilive Pt Curend Assets B85 &2
resita The lofw drd LIBOR rarks Sonlinusd 15 ihharsion, I’lelﬂ' 1o 1oaoa

e US Facwsl Feserve 10 reduds Mbes increased sgnficanty dunng
12 LT

In tha resdeniial morgage mancel, Wi continies 19 [awour non-apme bonds
aier gowerneTenil guaraniesd aiency sacuriies, and bonds wih foaling
Soupons In he commerdial seclon he secunlissin (he Fund are conomnirated

Agnet Backed Seauntes & Corporate FromAAALe  From ARA LG
In apannmen] oompd@ees and sl Dalanoe commearcial ans Bends & Mo 3 o & B, or rray B, or ey
Tries LIS Iou SN ket Qolinues 10 IMPIOVE in Crex worhiness, MCilggs Pass Th Bond nolberaled ool beraled

Dennquency
Ll e conbin e 1o Fal, house pRoos aie well supponed. The frational supply of
norres 1or S38 i approdmatay Four months of Salas, and which (s belo (he
proonss average, and the dernand fof homes rermaing frong as milennias
[ NOwW PUNChasng homes. W apad thal (he growih of Rouse pross wil
i o e urment Sppracation e o appeod malely 25 bo 3% par ann U
as gemand and supply Tind (her natursl aquilibriom.

Giotal grisdh (8 showing in rmany major soonommied Tha fulures maks nis
priced in &l leas! fwo rEIe Quls DY Ine US Fademl Reseres fhis year in
anliGpadion of @ SOwoImn Of SEn SGESEIN N e IS Whis we sxpad &
Shonn AT i) BNl LS AOnormy, we Betlaya Tl 1 housing Ml isin & Song
P Eon 10 vl sii0h Sn évend,

112/219



EDINETOOOO

o o o =720 06

Ooooooooooooooooooad

B

‘Sl B EoURLy eseul i ved e ue woj sapou Bubueducooe eyl

TRELOTER LI OB Bl TLESIOEE ZOOSWLPPE BOE'SCUELIT  ZECTLLLEEEI FROGIOEE EBLTHID8 889'Z89T sspus bupedpyed
BIGRUIBSROI 1o BISEIOU S BIGRING|LIE SIEE0 108
Eesmel bov'ris) w0231y BwzEsall  EarisEon) pueasesl  EEYES')) igziEre) Tl tsaeus Bumedoamd sqeuwesre)
0 SURDN0Y O & KEINJULE S1ese oy DuDngoKe] Soi e =i
x = - - - - aeded weysurl ppden
= Bovoe) = = = = = = = speied Eosim
oootnLL) B [FFER Tl ] - B - - - a SN0 O BN SN0
) Eudvdd el L1 504" B0BES) = (=] Bl [ WD HUEE
Leaea) De1eee) ] Lpo'zoe's) Bpeg’t) foe°Loa'm) Lot 1] (=Pl wrd lema’s b € B 1| I SRR EOUT U
Eies) el (=R SpREEE) Log' e BriBoi L) aiEiee) == 15 BpeE) SSRGS DErEmY
» = - woes) - (TN B - - SSUNEEE |6 SEATLEr S5 BN & Sl d §|uncusy
BsE - el (ire'ogh [ ] lraoosi | EEEmEL) = A Frd dwoa) SUN A0 S0 SITEATd SRRy
)T kiSRS
BliBILEY AGVB0ELL BRI ER Fui W WESEETEL'T  BSITEBEETE 2SS = ) L LTI SRESE JGLIND 1|0
e 1 aE O SRDIEY R0 BEL LA OIFOL0EL'L  IBATPOR UGS EGGIEN Y SERI0ELL ZIOTET E SNEA FE] T SRR EOURULY
= - = - = = = = - SIS LD
- x HSE = = 091REER Bire 83T R BB DI
ER0BER - - BIETINL Zio|ung f+ Liraty - - BHIENGOR ESIH0 pUCE
= =t R Fiohiiel = - EEEDLN GG R SRS 0 S M0 B0 L0 BETEAROS §|uniuny
SHER| - = TR 1 550k Lpas's L= TR - ool 'sne - SUIEASING 30) SHTEARON SN
LBy L5080 10 BELOL0 LS BISTES 2 060"t £ B ] e wliew
eies' IEFeR'E FrrEIE AR DUp'ona'aE SOVECYEF  S0E'sER| [IT4- YA e e BRG] MJED DU ST
BREEE RS
a0 san 60 40 san A N 1 4N RPN
sofijufdiodds  BANN PRGN 58k Ojliibid WEjl  WAPY Byl BsbpEe UBder piseil UGS g
(L=l Aynb3 legorn sseo AT san =g WD Lt ) Lt RaeD
RIS YD SRLLEAS ERE TR R nAUEAG b ] B WYD RIS YD LG YD
YD YD L] PENULCD §L0Z BOUs0a] (£ B By
lRaysg soueeg
sjuausasy|

WV

113/219



GAM Star MBS Total Return

Fund Manager: Gary Singletery Tom Mansiey

EDINETOOOO
O0O0000000000000000000(E34026)
Oooooooooooobooooooad

31 Decamber 2015

Portfolio Analysis

Mot Cuerent Acsats 43 G068
100,00 10000

10000 pleetei]

Mod gag e ackad

Aiit Backed Seaiites ez 2B
Corporde Bonds L7 (1]
Ml gage Pass Thiu o g
Futures - interes! Rlales 00s {igy
Curmency Forwards a4r asr
Mt Currend Assets 43 608

10000 10000

Aeset Backed Saaunties & Corponate From AAAte  From AdA Lo
Bonds & Morlgagebacked Bonds & O, oF may 0O, or rray
Micd gge Pass Thne Bends ncabaraad  not baradad
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512,866,645.43 9,309,473 994,903,418
1,713,626.65 27,087 2,894,782
511,153,018.78 9,282,386 992,008,636
59,797.00 102,164
8,548.14 90.85 9,709

30 UFJ 106.87
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126,974
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2019 12 31
2019 2019 2018 2018
8 15,780,404 1,830,526,864 129,723 15,047,868
15,780,404 1,830,526,864 129,723 15,047,868
9 17,927,717 2,079,615,172 18,738,166 2,173,627,256
10 15,337,464 1,779,145,824 15,791,536 1,831,818,176
12
13 33,513 3,887,508 15,348 1,780,368
33,298,694 3,862,648,504 34,545,050 4,007,225,800
49,079,098 5,693,175,368 34,674,773 4,022,273,668
18 126,974 14,728,984 126,974 14,728,984
10,550,065 1,223,807,540 9,306,188 1,079,517,808
10,677,039 1,238,536,524 9,433,162 1,094,246,792
11 20,383,694 2,364,508,504 24,403,481 2,830,803,796
12 299,209 34,708,244 199,663 23,160,908
15 1,256,740 145,781,840
14 38,049 4,413,684
17 547,992 63,567,072 638,467 74,062,172
22,525,684 2,612,979,344 25,241,611 2,928,026,876
16 15,876,375 1,841,659,500
15,876,375 1,841,659,500
38,402,059 4,454,638,844 25,241,611 2,928,026,876
49,079,098 5,693,175,368 34,674,773 4,022,273,668
2020
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2019 2019 2018 2018
29,765,855 3,452,839,180 42,045,599 4,877,289,484

39,305 4,559,380 32,866 3,812,456
29,805,160 3,457,398,560 42,078,465 4,881,101,940

(22,617,485) (2,623,628,260)

(26,678,094)

(3,094,658,904)

7,187,675 833,770,300 15,400,371 1,786,443,036

(943,798) (109,480, 568) (1,993,745) (231,274,420)

6,243,877 724,289,732 13,406,626 1,555,168,616

6,243,877 724,289,732 13,406,626 1,555,168,616
2020
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126,974 14,728,984 9,899,562  1,148,349,192 10,026,536  1,163,078,176
13,406,626  1,555,168,616 13,406,626  1,555,168,616
(14,000,000)  (1,624,000,000) (14,000,000) (1,624,000,000)
126,974 14,728,984 9,306,188  1,079,517,808 9,433,162  1,094,246,792
6,243,877 724,289,732 6,243,877 724,289,732
(5,000,000)  (580,000,000) (5,000,000)  (580,000,000)
126,974 14,728,984 10,550,065  1,223,807,540 10,677,039  1,238,536,524
2020
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2019 2018
7,187,675 833,770,300 15,400,371 1,786,443,036
441,382 51,200,312
333,294 38,662,104
1,498,800 173,860,800 50,378 5,843,848
(39, 305) (4,559,380) (32,866) (3.812,456)
(90,475) (10,495, 100) 509,975 59,157,100
9,331,371 1,082,439,036 15,927,858 1,847,631,528
1,612,539 187,054,524 (14,436,377)  (1,674,619,732)
(4,019,787) (466,295, 292) 19,922,732 2,311,036,912
(2,407,248) (279,240, 768) 5,486,355 636,417,180
6,924,123 803,198,268 21,414,213 2,484,048,708
(824, 369) (95,626,804) (1,819,286) (211,037,176)
6,099,754 707,571,464 19,594,927 2,273,011,532
(26,731) (3,100,796) (28,766) (3.336,856)
39,305 4,559,380 32,866 3,812,456
12,574 1,458,584 4,100 475,600
(1,566, 400) (181,702,400)

(5,000, 000) (580,000, 000) (14,000,000)  (1,624,000,000)
(6,566, 400) (761,702,400) (14,000,000)  (1,624,000,000)
(454,072) (52,672,352) 5,599,027 649,487,132
15,791,536 1,831,818,176 10,192,509 1,182,331,044
15,337,464 1,779,145,824 15,791,536 1,831,818,176

39,305 4,559,380 32,866 3,812,456
5,000,000 580,000,000 14,000,000 1,624,000,000

2020
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2019 12 31 IFRS
IFRS
2019
2019
IFRS 16 -
IFRS 16 2019 IAS 17 SIC 15 SIC 27

IFRIC
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12

IFRS 16
IFRS 16

IFRS 16 2019

2019
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10

2019 12 31 2018 12 31
90 61
60

2019 2018

A2/A /BBB A3/BBB+/BBB
ABN Al/A/A Al/AA+
KBC /BBB/NR Bal/BB/NR

/A+/A+ /A+/A+

A3/A+/AA A3/A+/A
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
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12
1,256,740 5,272,492 10,603,883 17,133,115
303,759 303,759
12,568,501 12,568,501
7,511,434 7,511,434
2019
12 31
20,383,694 1,256,740 5,272,492 10,603,882 37,516,809
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
EURIBOR
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2019 12 31
2019 12 31
15,337 15,337
17,928 17,928
15,337 17,928 33,265
20,384 20,384
20,384 20,384
2018 12 31
15,792 15,792
18,738 18,738
15,792 18,738 34,530
24,403 24,403
24,403 24,403
125,000 0.2

0.001
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
6,044,425 8,844,848
7,295,174 7,487,636

514,493
69,654 216,472
9,208,232 9,614,645
22,617,485 26,678,094
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
18,507 32,866
20,798
39,305 32,866
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
1,370,519 1,588,742
76,194 82,000
1,590,715
50,378 50,378

514,493
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12.5%
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
893,729 1,945,732
30,480 27,365
(295)
923,914 1,973,097
19,884 20,648
943,798 1,993,745
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
7,187,675 15,400,371
898,459 1,925,046
1,151 2,084
189,663 25,715
30,480 27,365
256 (1,083)
(6,030)
19,884 20,648
(195,800)
(295)
943,798 1,993,745
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
5,371,644 5,684,799
608,448 608,367
661,039 631,184
514,493
6,641,131 7,438,843
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
64 68
26 26
90 94
2018 12 31 3,063,131 2,463,084 632 599,415
2019 3,063,131 2,463,084 632 599,415
16,608,609 16,608,609
2019
19,671,740 2,463,084 632 599,415 16,608,609
26,731 26,731
19,698,471 2,463,084 632 626,146 16,608,609
2019 2,933,408 2,463,084 632 469,692
984,659 55,948 928,711
3,918,067 2,463,084 632 525,640 928,711
2018 12 31 129,723 129,723
2019 12 31 15,780,404 100,506 15,679,898
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
11,032,301 10,242,432
665,352 286,873
6,230,064 8,208, 861
17,927,717 18,738,166
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
15,337,464 14,791,536
1,000,000
15,337,464 15,791,536
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
303,759 182,528
12,568,501 14,687,401
7,511,434 9,533,552
20,383,694 24,403,481
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
(299,209) (199,663)
(299,209) (199,663)
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
15,348 35,996
594 (40,819)
17,571 20,171
33,513 15,348
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
(38,049)
(38,049)
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
1,256,740
1,256,740
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
15,876,375

15,876,375
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17
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
638,467 128,492
638,467
(90,475) (4,518)
(123,974)
547,992 638,467
547,992 638,467
547,992 638,467
GAM
IT
IT 2020
18
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
1.2697381
69738 1,269,738 1,269,738
1,000,000
1.2697381
126,974 126,974

1,000,000

138/219



EDINETOOOO
o o o =720 06
Ooooooooooooooooooad

19

2019 IFRS 16
1,256,740
1,280,827
1,305,376
1,330,395
1,355,894
10,603,883
17,133,115

2018 IAS 17
1,566,400
3,654,933
5,221,333

2018
20
661,039 2018 631,184
2018
21
GAM GAM
GAM GAM
GAM

GAM CH 8037 201
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5,000,000 2018 14,000,000
2019 12 31 2018 12 31

29,765,855 42,045,599
29,765,855 42,045,599
23,389,705 34,534,197
6,376,150 7,570,848

(59,446)
29,765,855 42,045,599
29,765,855 42,045,599
29,765,855 42,045,599

GAM
2018 297,024 GAM
60,073 2018 GAM
2,166
5,000,000 GAM 2018
GAM 2018 51,914
GAM 2018 GAM
GAM
GAM GP 32,935 2018
491,778 GAM GP

2018 491,369
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GAM 13,874,615
2018 20,816,971
GAM
2018 1,184,798
GAM 3,323,966 2018 3,602,176
GAM 303,062 2018
243,732
GAM 1,690,843 2018
1,237,655 GAM 137,711
2018 141,477
IT GAM
3,164,953 2018 8,357,561 2019
7,793,036 2018 8,635,797 GAM
980,347 2018 768,801
52,705
2018 12,034
4,982 2018 3,569
GAM 598,614 2018 1,105,158
GAM
41,971 2018 61,976
GAM
2,444,064 2018 190,263 2019
6,713,441 2018 GAM
1,080,196 2018
GAM 2,853,371
2018 1,021,986 GAM
680,332 2018 331,020
GAM SGR 4,197,471
2018 4,080,210 GAM SGR 1,118,048
2018 1,163,976
2019 GAM 806,902
2018 1,411,906
GAM 697,574 2018 536,381
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2019 12 31 2018 12 31
1,161,754 1,368,052
25,555 34,208
116,575 137,828
66,635 48,654
1,370,519 1,588,742
1,370,519 1,588,742
26
2019 2022
2019
30
2020
2019 2022
250,000 2019 91,271
2019
50,000 75
2020 2019 GAM

2019
2019 42,068
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135,450
GAM
218,759
2018 63,364
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rTSR
rTSR GAM
50 rTSR
50 75 rTSR 100
75
50
20
104,137 21,664
95,268
96,346 2016 10 26
2019 2016
39,123 2018 52,042
GAM 2019 15 2020 15 2021 15
rTSR
rTSR
rTSR
4.89 4.79 4.69
rTSR 5,416 10,832
3 15
9.17 9.17 9.17
33.00% 33.00% 34.00%
5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
0.65% 0.60% 0.53%
GAM 2019 15 2020 15 2021 15
20
0.85 0.96 1.10
26,034 52,069
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33.00% 33.00% 34.00%
5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
0.65% 0.60% 0.53%
ESOP
GAM
ESOP 2017 ESOP
GAM
2018
2016 10 5,806 GAM
49,936
2018 0.3 2019
2018 5,275
27
GAM
28
2020 11 Sars CoV 2
CovID 19
2020
2019 12 31
2019
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Staternent of Financial Position G A M

as at 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Motes € €
Assels
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment g 15,780,404 128,723
Total Non-Current Assets 15,780 404 128,723
Current Assets
Trade and cther receivables ] 17827 M7 18,738,186
Cash and cash equivalents 10 15,337 484 15,791,535
Tax asset 12 - -
Defarred tax assat 13 33513 15 348
Total Current Assets 33,298,694 34,545,050
Total Assets 49,079,093 M 674,773
Equity and Liabilities
Equity :
Issued Share Capital 18 126,974 126,974
Retained Eamings 10,550,065 2,306,188
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 10,677,039 8,433,162
Liabilities
Trade and cther payables 11 20,383, 684 24,403.481
Tax payable 12 298,209 188,653
Cther financial liabilities 15 1,266,740
Defarred tax liability 14 38,045 -
Restructuring provision 17 547,992 538 467
Total Current Liabilities 22525684 25,241,611
Non-current liabilities
Financial Rabilites 16 15,876,375 =
Total non-current liabilities 15,876,375 -
Total Liabllities 38,402,059 25,241,611
Total Equity and Liabilities 49,079,008 M.674,773
The notes on pages 15- 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Director R Cullivan Ray Cullivan
Ei_.l"' Culleran
Apr 7, 2000137 BB RST
Director T Young 7 April 2020
Do Yoang
— T 'I:-'"T!'E" T -

Apr T, 20004 00 PRLIET
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GAM

Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Motes € €

Revenue 23 29,765,855 42,045 592
Financial income 4 39,305 32866
Total Income 29,805,160 42,078,465
Operating expenses 3 {22,817.485) (26,678,004}
Profit before tax 7,187,675 15,400,371
Tax gxpense 6 (943,784 {1,993,745)
Profit for the year 6,243,877 13,406,626
Other comprehensive income - -
Total Comprehensive Income for year 6,243,877 13,406,626

All acthvities during the year relate to continuing operations. The notes on pages 15-30 form an integral part of these
financial staternents.

Ray Cullivan

RJ:,.' Cullean
Apr?, 20E0 13T FM BET

Director R Cullvan

Towm Young

Tom Yomg
Apr 7, 2020400 FMIST

Director T Young 7 April 2020
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GAM

Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2019

Share Capital Retained Eamings Total

€ € €

Balance at 01 January 2018 126,974 8,808,562 10,026,538
Profit for year - 13,408 628 13,405 625
Capital contribution - - -
Distribution paid i : K
Dividends proposedipaid - (14,000,000} {14,000, 000)
Balance at 31 December 2018 126,974 9,306,188 2,433,162
Profit for year - 6,243 877 6,243 877
Capital contribution - - -
Distribution paid 4 . .
Dividends proposedipaid - {5,000,000) {5,000,000)
Balance at 31 December 2019 126,974 10,550,065 10,677,039

The notes on pages 15- 30 form an integral part of these financial staterments.

Ray Cullivan
Fay Cullm
ApeT, 2020137 FM BST
Director R Cullivan

Tomm Y oun;
Apr 7, 2020400 P IST
Director T Young 7 April 2020

Tomn Young

ra
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GAM

Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2018

2019 2018
Motes € €

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 7187675 15,400,371
Adustment for prepayment on lease 441,382 -
Interest on lease habilities 333,284 -
Depreciation a 1,428,800 50,378
Financial income 4 {39,305 (32, B866)
Restructuring provision (90475) 509,975
Net operating profiti{loss) before changes in working capital 6,331,301 15,927 B58

Working capital changes

Decrease f{increase) in trade and other receivables g 1,612,538 (14436377
{Decreaze)/Iincrease in trade and other payables 11 (4,018,787 18822732
{2,407 ,248) 5,486,355
Cash generated from operation 6,924,123 21414213
Tax paid {824, 369) (1.818, 288)
Net cash generated from operating activities 6,099,754 19,594 927

Cash flows from investing activities
Acouisition of property, plant and equipment 8 (28,731) (28, 766)
Interast received 39 305 32 866

Net cash flows from investing activities 12,574 4,100

Cash flows from financing activities

Principal payment of lease liabiliies (1,566.400) :
Dividends paid to parent company 22 15,0:00,000) (14,000,000
HNet cash flows from financing activities (6,966,400) (14,000, 000)
Net (decreasejlincrease in cash and cash equivalents 1434,072) 5,999,027
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 15,791,536 10,182 508
Cash and cash equivalents at year end 10 15,337 454 15,791,536
Interest received 28,305 32,866
Dividends Pald £ 000,000 14,000,000
Ray Cullivan
Fay Cullivan

Director R Cullivan  #Apr7, 2000 137 FMEST

Tow Young

Directar T Youn T Young 7 April 2020
v 8 Apr T, 2020 4700 FM IST Apn
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GAM

Motes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies

a) Staternent of Compliance

The financial staternents for the year ended 31 December 2019 are prepared and approved by the Directors in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU,

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with iterns which are considerad matarial
in relation to the Company's financial statements.

b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Euro.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabdities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experence and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
rmaking the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Achual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis, Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the peried in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects cnly that period, or in the period of the
rewision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these fnancial statements and are
consistent with those used in the previous year,

New standards and inferpretations adopted

The Company applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, The nature and the impact of each new standard and amendment is described
below.

Adaption of mew accounting stendards effectnve from 1 January 2019
IFRS 16 — Leases

IFRS 16 became effective 1 January 2018, replacing A5 17 Leases, SIC-15, SIC-27 and IFRIC 4, The new standard
includes the following changes to lease accounting:

Fecognition of all leases is required on the balance sheet in the form of a right-cfuse asset and a lease lability
{discounted future lease payments). As a result, a lesses is now required to recognize depreciation of the nght-of use
asset and interest on the discounted lease lability, The future rental payments are capitalized as right-ofuse assets,
A leszee is requited to provide gqualitative disclosures in addition to the guantitative disclosures only if they are
necessary to satisfy the lessee disclosure chbjective of enabling users of the financial statements to assess the
amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets, The Company recognizes the lease payments asscciated with these leases as an expensze on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company presents right-ofuse assets in the balance sheet Ene itemn
‘property and equipment’, sublease receivables are presented in the line ftem “rade and other recevables’ and lease
liabilities as fnancial abilties.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Company elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of
which transactions are leases and therefore applies IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previcusly identified as
leases.

IFRS 16 is required to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 20159, The Company applied the
‘modified retrospective approach’ and under the transition method chosen, the cumulative effect of initially applying
this standard is recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained eamings on 1 January 2019, with the
benefit of certain optional practical reliefs. Therefore, comparative information is not restated,
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GAM

Motes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Standard issued but not yet adopted
Certain new standards, revisions and interpretations of existing standards have been published that have to be

applied in future fnancial periods, but are not yet adopted by the Company. These changes are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financal statements.

¢} Depreciation

Depreciation has been provided to allocate the cost of non-current assets on a systematic basis, over their estimated
useful lives, assessed as follows:

Fittings & Furniture S years
Office machines & years
Computers & Software not o excead 5 years

d} Currency translations

Foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated into euro at the exchange rate ruling at the staterment of financial
position date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. All foraign
exchange gains and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income,

a) Pensions

Obligations for contributions to the defined confribution pension plan are recognised as an expense in the statement
of comprehensive income as incurred,

fi Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is
recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially
enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the statement of financial position liability method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assels and abiliies for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes.
if any; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; and differences
relating to investments in subsidares and associates, if any, to the extent that the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the terporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable fsture. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabiBties, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
staternent of finan cial position date,

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will ba available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised.
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GAM

Motes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting policies (comtinued)

g) Revenue recognition

Revenue from fund management and administration activities comprises fund management fees, administration fees,
bank account interest, realised and unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses and other sundry income,

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in proportion to the stage
of completion of the transaction at the statement of financial position date. The stage of completion is determined by
reference to services rendered in terms of the relevant agreements.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer,

Management and administration fee income

Management and administration fee income is accrued on a daily, weekly or monthly basis in accordance with
individual agreements which the Company has entered into with the various open-ended investment funds for which it
acts as manger or administrator,

Distnbution fee income
Distribution fee income is accrued on a daily, weekly or monthly basis in accordance with indvidual agreements which
the Company has entered into with the vanous epen-ended investment funds for which it acts as distrbutor.

5 ol
Financial income comprises interest income.

Imterest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, using the effective interest rate
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or labilty (or. where appropriate, a shorter period) to the camrying
armount of the Ainancial asset or Bability,

The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the Bnancial asset and lability and is not revised
subsaquently.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees paid or received, transaction costs and dscounts or
premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or liability.

h} Financial instruments

A Bnancial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of ancther entity. Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables include accounts
receivable.

Financial liabilities that are not fair valued through the statement of comprehensive income include accounts payable.
The Company recognises financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value, at amortised cost.

i} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances. Bank balances that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the staterment of cash flows.

i} Share-based payments

The Company participates in a group share-based payment plan, maintained by its parent, GAM Holding AG, in the
form of a share option plan for its employees. When such payments are made to employees, the fair value of these
payments at grant date serves as the basis for calculating the personnel expenses. Share-based payments that are
net subject to any further conditions are expensed immediately at grant date. Share-based payments that are subject
to completion of a service period are expensed over the respective service period,

Share-based payment plans that are settled in own equity instruments (shares or oplions) result in a comesponding
increase in equity and are not remeasured for subsequent changes in the fair value of the underlying equity
instruments. Share-based payment plans that are settled by the payment of cash are recognised as a liability and are
adusted through the income statement for changes in fair value of the underlying equity instruments until final
settement.
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GAM

Motes to the Financial Statements

1, Accounting policies (comtinued)

k) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease, Lease incentives received are recognised as an inbegral part of the total lease expense, over the tenm of the
lease.

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the nght to control the use of an identified asset for a pericd of time in
exchange for consideration,

The Company recognises a right-ofFuse asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-ofuse
assel is initially measured at cost and the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. The right-oFuse asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method until the earlier of the end
of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. The lease
liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in
future |ease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, cr, upon the occurrence of either a significant event
or a significant change in circumstances that is within GAM's conftrol, if the Company changes its assessment of
whether it is reasonably certain that it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination options.

The Company presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘financial liabiities’ in the
balance sheet.

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of assets that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. As a practical expedient, the Company has
elected, for each class of underying asset, not to separate non-lease components (e.g. maintenance, administrative
or insurance costs) from lease components, and instead account for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

I} Prowisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a legal or constructive present obligation
existing on the balance sheet date that will probably lead to an outflow of resources and whose amount can be
refiably estimated, The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the obligation as ofthe balance sheet date, taking inte account the risks and uncertainties related to the obligation.

Restructuring provisions in the event of sale or termination of a line of business, dosure or relocation of business
lecations, changes in management structure or another fundamental reorganisation are recognised if a constructive
obligation is incurred and a detailed and formal restructuring plan exists. In addition, the implementation must have
begun or the announcement of the main features to the emplovees affected must have taken place before the
balance sheet date. Restructuring provisions include only necessary direct expendiures caused by restructuring. not
costs associated with the on-going busness activities,

2. Financial risk mamagement
I the cowrse of its day to day operations the Company has exposure to the follewing risks:
a) Credit risk
b Liguidity risk
¢ Market risk

This note presents infermation about the Company's exposure to each of the above risks, the Company's objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company's management of capital. Further
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.
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GAM

Motes to the Financial Statements

2. Financial risk management {continued)
a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activibes (rade receivables,
contract assets and amounts due from group companies) and from its financing actvities, including deposits with
banks and financial institutions, and other financial instruments.

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions are managed by the Company in accordance with the
Company's policy. The Company holds large cash balances which help reduce the level of third party funding
required. The Company actively manages its cash portfolio in order to mitigate against counterparties default risk.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credt nisk for balances with banks and financial institutions are the camying
armounts as llustrated in Note 10.

Credit rick frem amounts due from related parties is considerad to be low. No expected credt losses have been
recognised at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 as there is no history of incurring losses on revenue earned
from refated party companies. As such any expected credit loss is de minimis.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
les=ses on trade recevable and contract assat balances. The majority of trade receivable and contract asset balances
dua to the Company are settled shortly after year end with no history of bad debts arising. The provision rates on
trade receivable and contract asset balances are assessed based on period overdue. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Ini line with this assessment, a full provision is made against all rade receivable and contract asset balances over 61
days overdue which have not been seltled within 90 days of year-end. There are no bad debt provisions for the
period, The expected credit loss associated with balances less than 60 days overdue is considered de minimis based
on historical experience and normal industry settfement terms.

Institution 2019 2018
Moody's S&P & Moody's, S&P &
Fitch Rating Fitch Rating
Bank of reland A2IA-/BBB AJNEBE+BER
ABN AMRO Bank NV ATIAA AllTAA+
KBC Bank Ireland ple. Mot ratedBEERMR Bal/BEBMR
Citibank lsrael Branch Met rated@+A+ Mot rated/A+/A+
Bank of America ASIABA A3AEA-

b} Liguidity risk

Liguidity risk iz the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its fnancial obiigations as they fall due. The
Company's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it maintains sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilties when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unaccoptable losses or risking
damage to the Company's reputation.

The Company's financial liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and at 31 Decernber 2018 primarily consist of payables,
other accruals and amounts payable to the parent company and other group companies and as such the Company is
net exposed to significant liquidity risk arising from its financial labillities. All amounts are repayable on demand,
Mon-current liabilities are solely lease labilities so do not give rise to liquidty risks

Exposure to liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial Babilities at the reporting date. The amounts are
gross and undiscounted. and include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreement

Remaining contractual maturities of financi al liabilities

Due within |Due within |Due after 5
on  |Due within|  3-12 1-5 years | years
Euro's Demand | 3 months | maonths Total

Lease Liabilties 1,256, 7400 5272492 1ﬂ,5ﬂ3.ﬂ§ 17,133,115
Cther tax and social welfare 303,754 303,759
Cither creditors and accruals 12 568 501 12 568 501
Arounts due to Group undertakings 7,511,434 7,511,434

on-derivative financial liabilities at 31|

ecember 2019 20,383,604 1,256,740 | 5,272,492 | 10,603,882 137,516,309
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GAM

Motes to the Financial Statements

2. Financial risk management (continued)

c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices
will affect the Company's income. The Company faces certain risks and uncertainties which include the risk of
changing trends in financial markets. These factors can impact the AUM upon which the principal revenues of the
Company are calculated. This is an inherent risk given the nature of the Company's business activiies.

The Company's financial assets and financial liabilties at 31 December 2019 and at 31 December 2018 primarily
consst of cash and cash equivalents, trade debtors, payables, and amounts payable to other group companies. As
such the value of the Company's financial assets and financial labilties are not directly impacted by equity price
changes n financial markets.

The Company's financial azsets and financial liabilties at 31 December 2019 and at 31 December 2018 are primarily
denominated in Euro, the Company's functional currency. As such the Company is not exposed to significant risk on
its financial assets and financial liabilties arising from changes in foreign exchange rates.

At 31 December 2018 and at 31 December 2018 the Company's interest beaning financial aszets consist of bank

balances and short term deposits. Interest rates on the Company's bank balances and short term deposits are based
off the Euribor interest rate and the Company has limited exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

d} Financial Instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the categorisation into levels of the fair value hierarchy, as at 31 December 2018, of
fnancial instruments not measured at fair value. The carrying amount of such instruments approsimates thesr fair

value,
[000°s Euros Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1 December 2019
nancial assets: _
(Cash and cash equivalents 15,337 - - 15,337
(Trade and other receivables - 17,928 - 17,928
15,337 17,928 - 33,265
[Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables - 20,384 - 20,384
= 20,384 = 20,384
131 December 2018
[Financial assets:
iCash and cash equivalents 15,792 - . 15,792
Trade and cther receivables - 18,738 - 18,738
15,792 18,738 - 34,530
nancial liabilities:
ade and other payables - 24,403 - 24,403
I - 74,403 - 24,403

Capital management

The Directors’ pelicy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain parent company and creditor cenfidence
and to sustain future development of the business.

The Company is legally obliged to adhere to the Central Bank of Ireland's capital adequacy requirements which
stipulate that the Company maintain accessble liquid funds equivalent to the greater of €125 000 plus an add on of
0.2% of assets under managemaent or one guarter of the expenses incurred in the previous financial year as shown in
the most recent set of audted financial statements plus an addibonal 001% of the portfolio valuations of the
Altsmative Investment funds. The Company has never been in contravention of this requirerment.

The Company is debt free and there are no plans to take on any debt in the foreseeable future.
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year.

19
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3. Operating expenses

Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2012
€ €
Intergroup overhead and I T Development costs 8,044 425 8,844 B48
Personnel Costs 7,295,174 7 487,636
Termination Costs - 514,493
Foreign exchange loss 69,654 216,472
Other operating expenses 8,208, 232 8,614,845
22617485 26,678,084
Financial income
Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
£ €
Bank Interest 18,507 32 868
Interest on sub-lease 20,798 -
39,305 32868
Profit before tax
Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
€ €
This has been arrived at after charging:
Directors’ and Mon-Executive Director's remuneration and fees
ineluding pension conftributions 1,370,519 1,588.742
Auditor remuneration:
This has been arrived at after charging:
The audit of individual accounts 76,194 82000
Other assurance semrvices - -
Tax advisory service - -
Otiver non-audit services - -
Payments made under operating leases on buildings - 1,580,715
Depreciation 50,378 50,378
Termination costs - 514,483
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6, Taxation

The tax assessed for the year is at the standard rate of corporation tax in the Republic of Ireland for companies of
12.5%.

Reconciliation of the expected tax charge at the standard tax rate to the actual tax charge at the effective rate:

Analysis of tax charge In the year Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Current Tax € €
Irigh Corporation Tax for year on ordinary activities 883,729 1,945,732
Tax withheld 30,480 27,365
Prior period over provision {285) -
Current tax on profit for ordinary activities 923,914 1,973,087
Deferred tax charge 149,884 20,848
Total tax on profit on ordinary activities 843, 788 1,883,745
Current tax reconciliation Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
€ €
Profit on cedinary activities before tax 7,187,675 15,400,371
Current tax at 12.5% 888 450 1,825,046
Effects of:
Income taxable at higher rate 1,151 2084
Mon-deductible Expenses 189,663 25715
Tax withheld 30,480 27,3685
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation 256 (1,083)
Shares Vested - (6,030
Deferred tax charge 18,884 20,648
Rent Expense Paid (IFRS 16) {185,800) .
Prior period over provision (285) -
Total tax B4.3, 788 1,993,745

7. Employee information

Staff costs (including executive Directors) Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018

€ €

Wages and salaries 5,371,644 5,684,758
Social welfare G608 448 608,367
Pension costs 661,039 631,184
Termination benefits - 514 433
6,841,131 7.438 843

Average number of employees during the year Year Ended Year Ended
(including executive Directors) H Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
Fund administration B4 (2]
Administration 26 26
90 24
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8. Property Plant and Equipmeant

Fittings & Cifice Land &
Total Fumiture Machines Computers Buildings
£ £ £ £ £
Cost
Balance at 31 December 2018 3,063,131 2 483 084 532 580 415 -
Balance at 1 January 2019 3083,131 2 463,084 632 599,415 -
Recognition of ight-of-use assat 16,608,609 - - - 16,608 609
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019 19,671,740 2463084 632 599415 16,608 609
Additions 26,71 - - 26,74 -
Disposals = = = =
Atthe end ofthe year 19,698,471 2,463,084 632 626,148 16,608,609
Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2019 2933,408 2,463,084 632 468,692 -
Recognition of ight-ofuse asset - - - - -
Charge 984,659 - - 5,848 928,711
Disposals - - - - -
At the end ofthe year 3918, 067 2,463, 084 532 525,640 828,711
Met book value at 311218 128,723 - - 128.723 -
Met book value at 311219 15,780,404 - = 100,506 15,670,808
89, Trade and other receivables
Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 3 Dec 2018
£ €
Trade deblors 11,032 301 10,242 452
Sundry debtors and prepayments 665,352 BG5BT
Amounts due from group undertakings 6,230,064 8,208,861
17,827,717 18,738,165
10, Cash and cash equivalents
Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
£ €
Cash at bank and in hand 15,337 464 14,791,535
Short term bank deposits - 1,000,000
15,337 464 15,791,536
11. Trade and other payables
Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
€ €
Cither tax and social welfare 303,759 182,528
Other crediters and aceruals 12,568,501 14,687 401
Amounts due to group undertakings 7511434 9,533,552
20,383 6084 24,403 481
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12, Taxation (payable)

Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
3 €
Current tax (payabla) (299.209) (190,853)
(298,2089) (158, 653)
13, Deferred Tax Assels
Year Ended ‘Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
£ €
At beginning of the year 15,348 35996
Tax credt for the year 584 {40, 819
Share options 17,571 20171
33,513 15,348
14. Deferred Tax Liabilities
Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
€ €
At beginning of the year - -
Tax credt for the year {38,045) -
(38, 0459) .
15. Current financial liabilities
Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
£ £
Short-term lease hability 1,256,740 -
1,256, 740 -
16. Non-current financial liabilities
Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
£ €
Long-term lease liability 15,876,375 -
15,876 375 =

[
[
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17. Provisions

Balance at the baginning of the year
Provision made dunng the year
Utitised during the year

Provision reversed during the year
Balance at the end of the year

Current
Mon-Current
Provision at the end of the year

Year Ended Year Ended
31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
€ £

638, 467 128492

. 638,467

{90,475) {4,518)

A (123,874

547,002 B3IBA67
547,992 638,467

547,902 BIRABT

To reduce internal complexity and increase efficiency, the GAM Group management decided to introduce a consistent
operating model for the Group's investment management and private labelling activities which will enable the Group's
operations functions to focus on the core parts of the value chain; supporting the portfolio management and client

servicing activities,

The implementation of the new operating model involves several restructuring actions, including the implementation of
single data architecture, a move to cloudbased IT infrastructure, simplification of cur systems. processes and
reporting, outsourcing of back and middle office activities and IT transformation. The restructuring measures are

anticipated to be completed by the end of 2020,

18. Share Capital

Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2018
£ €
Autherised 1,000,000 ordinary shares of €1,2697381 each 1,269,738 1,269 738
Issued and fulty paid 100,000 ordinary shares of €1 2697381 each 126,974 126974
19. Commitments and Contingencies
[2019 — Operating leases under IFRS 16 q
u@ in less than 1 year 1,25&?4&
Due in 1 -2 vears 1,280,827
Due in 2— 3 years 1,305,378
Duwe in 3 — 4 years 1,330,395
Due in 4 -5 years 1,355,884
ue in more than 5 years 10,603,883
otal 17,1331 15
#0158 — Operating leases under 1AS 17
Due in 1 year 1,566,400
we in 2 -5 years 3,654.9
ue in more than 5 years
otal 52213

The commitments outfined above relate to the rental lease payments.

The Company has not entered into any capital commitments during the year (2018: nil).
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20, Pensions

For certain employees the pension enttlements are secured by a defined contribution scheme. The assets of the
scheme are hald separately fFom those of the Company by an indepandent trustes in externally administered funds.
The pension charge for the year amounted to €651,039 (201 8; £5631,184). There were no prepayments or accruals of
contributions at the year end (2018: €nil).

21. Ultimate Parent Company
The Director's regard GAM Holding AS, a company incerporated in Switzerland, as the ultimate parent. The smallest
group in which the financial statements of GAM Fund Management Limited are consolidated is headed by GAM
Group AG, a company incorporated in Switzerand. The largest group in which the financal statements of GAM Fund
Management Limited are consolidated is that headed by GAM Holding AG. Copies of the ultimate parent's
consolidated financial statements may be obtained from GAM Holding AG, Hardstrasse 201, P.O. Box, CH-B037,
Zurich, Switzerland.

22, Dividends

In 2019 a dividend of €5,000,000 was elected and paid. (Dividend of €14,000,000 was paid in 2018).

23. Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue

Year Ended Year Ended
3 Dec 2019 3 Dec 2018
€ €

Primary geographical markets
Europe 26,765 855 42 (45 558
29,765,855 42,045,558

Major service lines

Fund management and administration fees 23,389,705 34 534 197
Fund distribution fees 6,376,150 7,570,848
Other - (59 446)
28,765,855 42,045,588

Timing of revenue recogniti on
Services transferred over ime. 298,765,855 42 045,599
Revenue from contracts with customers 29,765 855 42 045,509

24. Related Parties

The Company was charged €435 408 (2018: £297,024) by GAM Holding AG, Switzedand, a group company for the
Company's share of overhead costs. At year end ©60,073 was owed by the Company to GAM Holding AG (2018: an
amount of €2 168 was due to the Company from GAM Holdng AG).

Dividends of €5,000,000 were paid to GAM Holding AG in 2018 (2018: €14,000,000).

The Company was charged fees of nil (2018: €51,914) by GAM Limited, Bermuda, which was also a group company.
At year end nothing was due to GAM Fund Management Limited as GAM Limited, Bermuda closed down in 2018 and
business was transferred to GAM Fund Management Ltd.

The Company was charged fees of €32 935 by GAM GP inc (2018: an amount of €491,778 was due to the Company
from GAM GP inc), a group company, for distibution costs. At year end €457, 121 was due by GAM GP inc (2018:
£491,369).

The Company was charged fees of €13,874,615 by GAM Capital Management AG Switzerland (2018; €20,816,971),
a group company. These fees related to administration and fund distribution services provided by the Company for
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certain funds managed in Switzerand. At the year end nil was owed to GAM Capital Management AG (2018:
€1,184,798).

The Company was charged €3,323,966 (2018: €3602,176) by GAM Hong Kong Limited, a group company. At year
end GAM Hong Kong Limited was owed €503 082 (2018: £243, 732).

The Company was charged €1,690,843 (2018: €1,237 655} by GAM Japan Limited, a group company. Ab year end
GAM Japan Limsted was owed €137,711 (2018; €141,477),

The Company was charged fees of €3,164,953 (2018: €8 357,561) by GAM (UK} Limited, a group company, for the
Company's share of the cost of group expenses and |IT development costs. The Company was charged fees in
relation to distnbution of €7,753,036 in 2019 (2018: €8,635,787). At year end €580,347 (2018:€ 768,801) was
outstanding fram GAM (LK) Limited.

The Company charged €52,705 (2018 €12034) to Cantab Capital Partners Limited, a group company. At the year
end Cantab Capital Partners Limited owed £4,982 to the Company (2018: £3,568).

The Company was charged fees of €598.614 by GAM USA Inc, (2018; €1,105,158), a group company. These fees
related to senvices provided to the Company. At year end GAM USA Inc. was owed &41,571 (2018: €61,976).

The Company was charged fees of €2.444, (54 fees (2018; €190,263) by GAM Investment Management Switzerdand,
a group company, for the Company's share of the cost of group expenses. The Company was charged fees in relation
to distribution of €6,713,441 in 2019 (2018: nil). At vear end GAM Investment Management Switzerland was owed
€1,080,196 (2018: nil)

The Company was charged €2,853,371 (2018: €1,021,986) by GAM Deutschland Gmbh, a group company, for costs
redating to distribution. At vear end €680,332 was due to GAM Deutschland GMBh (2018: €331,020.

The Company was charged €4, 197,471 (2018 €4,080.210) by GAM ltalia SGR, a group company, for costs relating
to distribution, At year end €1,118,048 was due to GAM Htalia SGR (2018; €1,163,976),

The Company was charged €808,202 by GAM (Luxembourg) S.A a group company in 2019 (2018: €1,411,8086).
These fees related to senvices provided to the Company. At year end €637.574 was outstanding from GAM
(Luxembourg) 5.4 (2018: €536,381).

25. Key Management Personnel
Key management personnel are those persons (including any director of the Company) having the authorty and

responsibilty for planning. directing and contralling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly. The following
persons were key management personnal of the Company during the financial year,

E ive Di
T Dowd Managing Director

D Gray Business Development and Financial Reporting & Institutional Clent Services Director
M Whooley Compliance Director

M Keane Finance Director

R Cullivan Daputy Managing Director

G Coffey Shareholder Services Director

Non-E ive Di

W Merris

B Buckley

S MeConnell

M Jufer

T Young
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Transactions with Key management personnel

In addition to their salaries, the Company provides short-term and long-term incentive benefits to executive Directors.

The Company also contributes to a defined contribution pension plan on their behalf,

ey management personnel compensation includes executive Directors’ remuneration and Director’s fees for the non-

execubive Director.

Year Ended
31 Dec 2018
€

1,368,052
34,208
137.828
48,854

1,588,742

Year Ended

3 Dec 2019

£

Salaries and bonus 1,161,754
Short-term benefits 25,555
Pension contributions 116,575
Mon-Executive Directors fees 66,635
Total remuneration and fees 1,370,519
Total 1,370,519

1,588,742

26. Share based payments

2019 — 2022 Retention Plans

In 2019, selected employees received a retention award. Awards are splt and will vest in three equal tranches on 30
June of each of the three subsequent years after the grant date, subject to recipients centinuing to be employed with

the Group on the vesting date.

The number of shares granted at grant date will be determined by dividing the predetermined aggregate fair value by
the fair value per share as determined at the vesting date of the frst tranche in 2020, As at the grant date, the
expected aggregate fair value of 201% — 2022 rentention awards amounts to CHF 250,000. In 2018, an expense of

€91, 271 was recognised.

2019 Bonus Deferrals

In line with the compensaticn framework, deferral of variable compensation applies to all employees. The proportion
of employees’ variable compensation to be deferred was generally 75% of any variable compensation over CHF

50,000,

I eary 2020, the Group will grant to relevant employvees GAM Heolding AG shares as the defemed component of
their variable compensation for 2018, These shares will vest and be delivered in three equal tranches on the first
three anniversaries of the grant date subject to recipients continuing to be employed with the Group on the vesting

date.

The number of shares granted at grant date will be determined by dividing the predetermined aggregate fair value by
the fair value per share. The expected aggregate fair value of theze awards to be delivered in shares is recognised
as an expense over the relevant vesting period starting 1 January 2019, In 2018, an expense of £42,068 was

recognised,

2018 Bonus Deferrals

In line with the compensation framewark, deferral of variable compensation applies to all employees, The proportion
of employees’ variable compensation to be deferred other than GME members who have S0% of their varable
compensation deferred, was generally one-third of any variable compensation over CHF 75,000,

On 1 March 2019, the Group granted to relevant emplovess GAM Holding AG shares as the deferred component of
their variable compensation for 2018, These shares will vest and be delivered in three equal tranches on the first
three anniversaries of the grant date subject to recipients cantinuing to be employed with the Group an the vesting

date.
In 20198, an expense of £26,532 was recognized (201 8:€13,802).
2017 Bonus Deferrals

In lime with the compensation framework, deferral of variable compensation applies to all employees, The proportion
of employees’ variable compensation to be deferred other than GME members who have 50% of their variable
compensation deferred, was generally one-third of any variable compensation over CHF 75, 000.
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On 2 March 2018, the Group granted to relevant employees GAM Holding AG shares with a fair value of CHF 17.00
per share as a deferred component of their vanable compensation for 2017. These shares will vest and be deliverad
in three equal tranches on the first three anniversaries of the grant date subject to recipients continuing to be
employed with the Group on the vesting date. For some employees, the deferred component of their variable
compensaticn is granted in form of fund units. In 2019, an expense of £11,137 (2018 €15,745) was recognised.

Employee option plan

Omn 6 March 2017, the Group granted, to certain employees {excluding all Ecard of Directors and Group Management
Board members), a total of 135450 options with an exercise price of CHF 11.25. Subject to certain terms and
conditions, the Group will deliver one share in GAM Holding AG per option. The options have an exercise period of
six months after their vesting date of & March 2020.

Az at the date of grant, the aggregate fair value of these options amounted to €218,758 and is recognized as an
expense over the relevant vesting period. In 2019, an expense of £53,170 was recognised {201 8:€63, 354).

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIF)
On 26 October 2016, as part of the 2016 long-term incentive plan, selected senior employees received a share-
based award, subject to the recipient continuing to be employed with the Group on the vesting date.

Each award iz split and will vest in three tranches

The award was sphit equally to fund two components:
+ Performance units linked to the Company's relative total shareholder return (rTSR)
+ Oplions issued as premium to the share price at grant.

The performance units {or TTSR units’) are converted to shares based on the performance of GAM relative to a peer
group. The conversion of performance units to shares varies linearly from the 507 (50% of rTSR units vesting) to the
75" percentile {100% of the rTSR units vesting). The number of performance units converted will be capped at one
share for each unit irrespective of relabive performance about the 75" percentile, while no performance units are
vesting when the performance is below the 507 percentile,

The premium to the share price of one option is 20% i.e. the oplions were granted out-of-the-money,

Participants received share-based awards in form of 104, 137 options and 21,664 performance units. The exercise
date of the options is six months from the vesting date and for the performance units the exercise date is the same
as the vesting date, as at date of grant, the aggregate fair value of the performance units amounted to €55 258 and
the aggregate fair value of the options amounted to €96,345, The fair value at grant dabe is recognised as an
expense over the relevant vesting period starting 26 October 2018, In 2018, an expense of €38,123 {2018: €52,042)
was recognized for the 2016 LTIP awards.

ka
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GAM Fund Management Limited Options Options Cptions
rTSR units Granted vested on vesting on westing on
Fair value of rTSR units and assumptions 15 March 2019 15 March 2020 18 March 2021
Fair value of r'TSR unit at grant date (CHF) 489 4,78 468

MNumber of rTSR units sutstanding 5416 10,832
Awverage remaining contractual life {in months) 3 15

Share price at grant date (CHF) 917 17 9.17
Expected volatility 33.00% 33.00% 34.00%
Expected dividend yield 5.000% 5.00% 5.00%
Risk-free interest rate -0.65% -0.60% -053%
[GAM Fund Managerment Limited Options Options Options
Share Options Granted vested on vesting on vesting an
Fair value of 20% premium’ share options 15 March 2018 15 March 2020 15 March 2021
Fair value of options at grant date {CHF) 0.BS 0.96 1.10

MNumber of eptions cutstanding 26,034 52,069
Awerage remaining contractual life (in months) g 21

Share price at grant date (CHF) 917 ai17 917
Exercize price (CHF) 11 11 11
Expected volatility 33.00% 33.00% 3.00%
|Expected dividend yield 5.00% &.00% 5.00%
Risk-free interest rate -0.65% -0.60% -0.53%

Employee share ownership plan (ES0P)

The GAM Group introduced an employee share ownership Plan (ESOP) for all permanent staff, excluding General
Management Beard members, to support the share ownership of the Group's employees. Enrolment commenced in
Septemnber 2017, The ESOP gives employees the opportunity to acquire shares in GAM Holding AG, and for every
share purchased, subject to certain terms and condiions, the Group will grant a conditional award to acquire a
matching share free of payment on the vesting date of 1 March 2018,

On 3 October 2016, the plan participants were granted 5806 GAM Holding AG shares. As at the date of grant, the
aggregate fair value of these shares amount to €49 936 and is recognised as an expente over the relevant vesting
period starting 2 October 2016, In 2018, an expense of nil (2018; €5, 275) was recognised,

27, Segmental Analysis

All revenues and expenses of the Company arise from the provision of management, admistration or distrubution
functions to investment funds organised as open-ended unit trusts or companies within the GAM Group.

2B. Subsequent avents

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the Coronavirus {Sars-Co'V-2) cutbreak to be a pandemic
in recognition of its rapid spread across the globe,

Concerns about the spread of coronavirus and the associated lung disease COVID-18 ("coronavirus disease 20197
are already hawving restrictive and significant consequences for the economy and companies, for example due to
restrictions on production and frade or travel restrictions. The capital markets have experienced significant price
corections and an increase in risk premiums. Due to supply disruptions and demand shortfalls, economic growth is
expected to be impaired in 2020, but this cannct be quantified yet. Possible effects on eamings would be bottlenecks
in the supply chain, the loss of own employees or the inability to provide services and any related legal risks. In
varous countries, including lIreland, economic stimulus measures are being discussed. or have already been
implemented, to stabdlise the econonmmy.
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For the Company's financial statements as of 31 December 2019, the Coronavirus outbreak and the related impacts
are considered non-adiusting events. Consequently, there is no impact on the recognition and measurement of assets
and liabilities in the 2019 financial statements.

The recent market developments are expected to result in lower assets under management and therefore in lower
future cash flows. However, the financial impact of the coronavirus on GAM Fund Management Limited in the future
cannct be assessed at present. The Board of Directors is taking appropriate actions to mitigate potential negative
impacts on future cash fiow streams.

28. Approval of Financial Statements

The financial staterents were approved by the Directors an ¥ Apnil 2020,
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Harneys Trusts (Cayman) Limited

50,000 534
Harneys Fiduciary
Cayman Limited HFCL 12 31 3,512,652
375
23 28 HFCL
HFCL
HFCL
GAM GAM International Management Limited
3,750,000 4 9,868
30 UFJ
132.98
1948 1981 59 26
1940 SEC
CFTC
GAM GAM Fund Management Limited
126,974 1,473
27
UCITS GAM
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State Street Fund

Ireland Limited

5,000,000 665
35 35
4,654
23
ABN AMRO Clearing Bank N.V.
15 1,740
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100 1082 PP
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ABN
1,650
60

12 7,000
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Independent auditor's report
To the Trustee of MBS Total Return Fund (the “Fund”), a Series Trust of BAS GAIN Trust

Report on the audit of the financia statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the Fund's financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Fund as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Fund's financial statements comprise:

» the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019;

the Portfolio Statement as at 31 December 2019;

the Income Statement for the year then ended;

the Statement of Changes in Net Assets attributable to Unitholders of the Fund for the year then ended;
the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (1SAS). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information in the
Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financia statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statementsthat are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assuranceis a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
meateria if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

» |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's
internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
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Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Fund's Trustee as a body in accordance with
the terms of our letter of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume

responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Dublin, Ireland
22 June 2020

213/219



EDINETOOOO
o o o =720 06
Ooooooooooooooooooad

GAM

GAM 2019 12 31

IFRS

2019 12 31

IFRS

2014

1SA

1AASA

12

214/219



EDINETOOOO
o o o =720 06
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2014

2014

2014 305 312

I1SA

215/219



EDINETOOOO
o o o =720 06
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1AASA
https://ww. iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-
9b8fa98202dc9c3asDescription__of auditors__responsiblities_ for__audit.pdf

2014 391

2020

IFSC

216/219



EDINETOOOO
o o o =720 06
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GAM Fund Management Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of GAM Fund Management Limited (‘the Company’) for the year ended 31
December 2019 set out on pages 11 to 30, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of
Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the summary of
significant accounting policies set out in note 1. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is Irish Law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements:
give atrue and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and
of its profit for the year then ended,;
have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable
law. Our responsihilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We have nothing to report on going concern

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that basis for
a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We have nothing to report in
these respects.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financia
statements. The other information comprises the information included in the directors report and the statement of
directors responsibilities. The financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon do not comprise part of the other
information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements
audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in the other information.

Based solely on our work on the other information, we report that:
we have not identified material misstatementsin the directors report
in our opinion, the information given in the directors report is consistent with the financial statements;

in our opinion, the directors report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and
properly audited and the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors remuneration and

transactions required by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use

Responsihilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors responsibilities statement set out on page 7, the directors are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements including being satisfied that they give atrue and fair view; such internal control
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilitiesis provided on IAASA’s website at

https:.//www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013- 1cf 6-458b-9b8fa98202dc9c3a/
Description_of _auditors responsiblities for_audit.pdf.
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act
2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Brian Clavin Date: 07 April 2020
for and on behalf of

KPMG

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm

1 Harbourmaster Place

IFSC

Dublin 1
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